
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

LAGOGE D. GRAHAM,

Plaintiff,
vs.

CASE NO.: 16-cv-61653

SCOTT ISRAEL, in his official capacity as
Sheriff of Broward County and
MICHAEL DE LA NUEZ, in his
individual capacity,

Defendants.

NOTICE OF REMOVAL 

COME NOW the Defendants, SC011 ISRAEL, etc. and MICHAEL DE LA NUEZ,

by and through their undersigned attorneys, and pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §1446, remove this

action from the 17' Judicial Circuit in and for Broward County, State of Florida, and as

grounds state:

1. In an amended Complaint served and filed on July 1, 2016, Plaintiff has sued

Defendant, De La Nuez, under 42 U.S.C. §1983 for an alleged violation of Plaintiff's federal

constitutional rights.

2. Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1343(a)(3), this Court has original

jurisdiction over this action, as this action presents a "federal question" and seeks to redress

alleged deprivations of the Plaintiffs civil rights.
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4. Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §1441(a) and (c) and §1443, this action is removable to

this Court.

5. In accordance with 28 U.S.C. §1446(a), a copy of the July 1, 2016, Amended

Complaint giving rise to this removal is attached to this notice and made a part as Exhibit "A".

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I HEREBY CERTIFY that on this 12th  day of July, 2016, I electronically filed the foregoing

document with the Clerk of Court by using the CM/ECF system. I further certify that I either mailed

the foregoing document and the Notice of Electronic Filing by first class mail or by electronic mail

to any non CM/ECF participants and/or the foregoing document was served via transmission of

Notice of Electronic Filing generated by CM/ECF to any and all active CM/ECF participants

By: 
MICHAEL R. PIPER
Florida Bar No.: 710105
CHRISTOPHER J. STEARNS
Florida Bar No.: 557870
JOHNSON, ANSELMO, MURDOCH,
BURKE, PIPER & HOCHMAN, P.A.
Attorneys for Defendants
2455 East Sunrise Blvd., Suite 1000
Fort Lauderdale, FL 33304
(954) 463-0100 (telephone)
(954) 463-2444 (facsimile)
pipergiambg.com / bush@jambg.com
stearns@iambg.com / blouin@jambg.com
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SERVICE LIST 

Kevin R. Anderson, Esquire
Anderson & Welch, LLC
500 S. Australian Avenue, Suite 622
West Palm Beach, FL 33401-6237
Tel: 561-832-3386
Fax: 561-651-4141
Email: juristfla@bellsouth.net

Michael R. Piper, Esquire
Christopher J. Stearns, Esquire
Johnson Anselmo Murdoch
Burke Piper and Hochman, P. A.
2455 East Sunrise Blvd., Suite 1000
Fort Lauderdale, FL 33304
(954) 463-0100 (telephone)
(954) 463-2444 (facsimile)
piper@iambg.com 
stearns@jambg.com
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Filing # 43497873 E-Filed 07/01/2016 02:50:20 PM

IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE 17TH
JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR
BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA

LaGoge D. Graham,
Plaintiff,

v.

Scott Israel, in his official capacity
as Sheriff of Broward County, and
Michael De La Nuez in his
individual capacity,

Defendants.

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
) CIVIL DIVISION.
) CASE NO: CACE15010403

AMENDED COMPLAINT

COMES NOW, LAGOGE D. GRAHAM by and through his undersigned counsel and

seeks money damages in excess of $15,000.00, exclusive of costs, interest and attorneys' fees

and sues Scott Israel, in his official capacity as Sheriff of Broward County, and Michael De La

Nuez, in his individual capacity, and states:

JURISDICTIONAL ALLEGATIONS 

1. This is an action which meets this Court's jurisdictional threshold.

2. This is an action for damages in excess of $15,000.00 (fifteen thousand dollars) plus taxable

costs.

3. LAGOGE D. GRAHAM'S claims are made pursuant to Fla. Stat. 768 and Amendments to

the Constitution of the United States of America,

4. All acts and occurrences material to this cause of action were committed in Broward County,

Florida.

PARTIES 

5. LAGOGE D. GRAHAM [hereinafter, PLAINTIFF] is an adult resident of the State of

Florida domiciled in Broward County, Florida.
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6. Defendant, SCOTT ISRAEL [hereinafter, SHERIFF] is sued, in his official capacity as

Sheriff of Broward County. In this cause, Defendant, SHERIFF acted through his agents,

employees and servants.

7. Defendant, MICHAEL DE LA NUEZ [hereinafter, DE LA NUEZ] is sued, in his individual

capacity.

CONDITIONS PRECEDENT

8. All conditions precedent to the prosecution of this action have occurred, or have been

performed, excused or waived.

9. On or about August 25, 2014, PLAINTIFF forwarded a written notice pursuant to Fla. Stat.

768 to the Office of General Counsel for the Broward County Sheriff's Office, Broward

County Board of Commissioners, and Sheriff Scott Israel of the Broward County Sheriffs

Office.

GENERAL ALLEGATIONS & FACTS COMMON TO ALL COUNTS 

10. On March 7, 2012, a citizen complainant reported via 911 what she believed to be five (5)

gun shots heard near her Deerfield Beach apartment complex. The reporting citizen stated

that the perpetrators left the scene in a gray Honda Civic. She did not observe the alleged

shooter.

1 1. Officers arrived on scene approximately four (4) minutes later in response to the 911 phone

call. The complainant was met and again stated that the perpetrators left the scene in a gray

Honda Civic immediately following the incident. No description was provided for the driver

or other passengers in the vehicle.

12. More than ten (10) minutes later, Walter Avery, Jr. (hereinafter AVERY), a uniformed patrol

deputy from Broward County Sheriff's Office, conducted a traffic stop on a gold Nissan

2
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Altima in the same apartment complex. The motor vehicle was occupied by the PLAINTIFF

and four (4) passengers.

13. AVERY, ordered the driver to step out of the vehicle, then proceeded to question the driver,

as well as the other occupants of the vehicle, about the reported sounds suspected as gunfire

in the vicinity.

14. At no time did there exist a warrant to seize or search PLAINTIFF or the vehicle that he or

the vehicle's passengers travelled in, nor did an exception for a warrantless seizure and

search exist. Probable cause also did not exist to arrest the PLAINTIFF.

15. Shortly thereafter, two additional patrol vehicles arrived. DE LA NUEZ, a uniformed deputy

from the Broward County Sheriff's Office, exited his patrol vehicle and approached the

PLAINTIFF'S vehicle.

16. DE LA NUEZ approached PLAINTIFF, who was a backseat passenger on the right side of

the vehicle and ordered PLAINTIFF to exit the vehicle. PLAINTIFF complied.

17. DE LA NUEZ then ordered PLAINTIFF to place his hands on the trunk of the

PLAINTIFF'S vehicle.

18. When PLAINTIFF verbally questioned and objected to DE LA NUEZ conducting this

unlawful seizure of his person, DE LA NUEZ swiftly began to physically force PLAINTIFF

to place his hands on the trunk of the PLAINTIFF'S vehicle.

19. When PLAINTIFF continued his verbal objections, DE LA NUEZ deliberately removed his

taser from his holster, aimed the taser at PLAINTIFF'S chest and deployed the first cycle

from his taser for the purpose of discharging electrical voltage into PLAINTIFF'S body.

20. While PLAINTIFF'S muscles uncontrollably contracted in response to the tasing, DE LA

NUEZ proceeded to force PLAINTIFF to the ground where he remained face down.

3
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21. DE LA NUEZ and other deputies then began to punch and kick PLAINTIFF while he lay

prone and face down on the ground.

22. Simultaneously, DE LA NUEZ continued to repeatedly tase PLAINTIFF, discharging at least

three (3) additional cycles from the taser, while PLAINTIFF'S body contorted and jerked in

response to the tasing.

23. The PLAINTIFF experienced immense pain and sustained muscle paralysis from the taser.

24. DE LA NUEZ finally handcuffed PLAINTIFF and placed him into his patrol vehicle.

25. PLAINTIFF was ultimately transported to the Broward County Jail and arrested for the third

degree felony of Battery on a Law Enforcement Officer and the first degree misdemeanor of

Resisting an Officer Without Violence.

26. PLAINTIFF'S criminal case was placed on the court's docket. The charge of Battery on a

Law Enforcement Officer was No Filed on March 21, 2012, while the charge of Resisting an

Officer without Violence received further prosecution.

27. The criminal misdemeanor case remained open for over one (1) year before it was ultimately

none prossed on March 28, 2013.

28. SHERIFF at all times material to the facts giving rise to the PLAINTIFF'S claims was

responsible for ensuring that his agents and employees maintained state required

certifications in accordance with Florida law to serve as law enforcement officers. SHERIFF

was also responsible for proper training and adequate supervision of his agents and

employees up to and including the time frame when employing the use of force resulting in

the PLAINTIFF'S injuries.

4
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COUNT I (ONE) 
UNNECESSARY/EXCESSIVE USE OF FORCE CLAIM

For his cause of action against Defendant, SHERIFF, in Count I, PLAINTIFF re-alleges

and adopts, as if fully set forth, the allegations contained in paragraphs 1-28 and would further

state as follows:

29. On or about March 7, 2012, Defendant SHERIFF'S agent or employee under color of law,

did intentionally and unlawfully threaten by actions to do violence to the PLAINTIFF

coupled with an apparent ability to do so, creating a well-founded fear in PLAINTIFF that

such violence was imminent, by pointing and aiming an electric weapon device at the

PLAINTIFF.

30. The PLAINTIFF was placed in reasonable apprehension of immediately receiving injury,

pain and physical discomfort resulting from actions of the sheriffs agent which included, but

were not limited to aiming, pointing and threatening to discharge an electric weapon device.

The agent's actions were likely to, and actually did result in such injury, pain and physical

discomfort.

31. Defendant SHERIFF'S agent or employee, acting under color of law, also did intentionally

touch and strike PLAINTIFF by repeatedly deploying a taser or electric weapon device

without the PLAINTIFF's consent and against his will. The agent's actions intentionally

caused physical harm to PLAINTIFF.

32. Defendant SHERIFF'S agent or employee, acting under color of law, also did intentionally

touch and strike PLAINTIFF by continued tasing causing repeated cycles of electrical

voltage to be discharged into Plaintiff's body. SHERIFF'S agents including, but not limited

to DE LA NUEZ, repeatedly punched and kicked PLAINTIFF before and after he laid upon

the ground.

5
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33. The conduct of SHERIFF'S agent towards PLAINTIFF, as more fully set forth above, was

objectively unreasonable and constituted unnecessary and excessive use of force.

34. As a result of the actions of Defendant SHERIFF'S agents or employees, PLAINTIFF

suffered damages which include: physical suffering; physical inconvenience; physical

discomfort; mental anguish and emotional suffering; embarrassment, legal costs and fees.

WHEREFORE, PLAINTIFF demands judgment against the Defendant, SHERIFF, for

compensatory damages in excess of $15,000.00, and costs of this action together with any post

judgment interest, any and all equitable relief and requests a jury trial of all issues so triable.

COUNT II (TWO) 
FALSE ARREST OR IMPRISONMENT

For his cause of action against Defendant, SHERIFF, in Count I, PLAINTIFF re-alleges

and adopts, as if fully set forth, the allegations contained in paragraphs 1-28, and would further

state as follows:

35. On or about March 7, 2012, AVERY unlawfully seized PLAINITFF by conducting a traffic

stop on the vehicle in which PLAINTIFF was traveling, while acting in the course and scope

of his duties as a law enforcement officer employed by Defendant, SHERIFF.

36. DE LA NUEZ unlawfully arrested PLAINTIFF and physically deprived PLAINTIFF of his

freedom and liberty and restrained him in his movements by actual physical apprehension

upon his arrest which continued by DE LA NUEZ'S act of delivering PLAINTIFF to the

Broward County Jail for further detention.

37. PLAINTIFF did not consent to the aforementioned action of DE LA NUEZ, SHERIFF

and/or the SHERIFF'S other agents and employees including the SHERIFF'S law
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enforcement deputies on scene. The SHERIFF'S actions were against the will of

PLAINTIFF.

38. The aforementioned traffic stop, seizure, arrest and imprisonment of PLAINTIFF, by DE LA

NUEZ and the SHERIFF'S other agents and employees was unlawful in that it was not based

upon lawfully issued process of Court. DE LA NUEZ did not possess a valid warrant for the

arrest of PLAINTIFF nor did the PLAINTIFF consent to his arrest, seizure and

imprisonment.

39. As a result of the actions of DE LA NUEZ, the SHERIFF'S other agents and employees, for

which, the SHERIFF is responsible, PLAINTIFF suffered damages which include physical

inconvenience, physical injuries, physical discomfort, embarrassment, humiliation and injury

to his reputation, mental pain and suffering, incurred attorney's fees, associated legal

expenses and incidental monetary costs.

WHEREFORE, PLAINTIFF demands judgment against SHERIFF for compensatory

damages in excess of $15,000.00, costs of this action, attorney fees and demands a jury trial of

all issues triable.

COUNT III jTHREE)
MALICIOUS PROSECUTION

For his cause of action against Defendant, DE LA NUEZ, individually in Count III,

PLAINTIFF re-alleges and adopts, as if fully set forth, the allegations contained in paragraphs 1-

27, and would further state as follows:

40. On or about March 7, 2012, Defendant DE LA NUEZ caused the physical warrantless arrest

of PLAINTIFF for the third degree felony of Battery on a Law Enforcement Officer and the

first degree misdemeanor of Resisting an Officer Without Violence.
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41. After arresting PLAINTIFF, Defendant DE LA NUEZ caused the prosecution to be instituted

against PLAINTIFF for the offense of Resisting an Officer Without Violence in the Broward

County Court, Florida.

42. The prosecution was instituted by DE LA NUEZ without probable cause as to the facts

recited by DE LA NUEZ prior to arresting PLAINTIFF. The matters known to DE LA

NUEZ before instituting the aforementioned prosecution would not have warranted a

reasonable person to believe that the cited criminal offense had been committed by

PLAINTIFF. In the alternative, the prosecution of PLAINTIFF was instituted by DE LA

NUEZ with no reasonable likelihood of success.

43. DE LA NUEZ acted with legal malice in instituting the aforesaid prosecution which is

implied by the lack of probable cause and/or with express malice as shown by his reckless

disregard for the rights of PLAINTIFF and his personal animosity and hostility towards

PLAINTIFF. Further, DE LA NUEZ made material misstatements of fact and/or material

omissions of material facts in support of the prosecution.

44, No prosecution for Resisting an Officer Without Violence of PLAINTIFF would have

occurred but for the actions of DE LA NUEZ.

45. The criminal proceeding was resolved in favor of the PLAINTIFF by the entry of a nolle

prosequi for such crime on March 28, 2013.

46. The fact of PLAINTIFF's prosecution became known to many persons as a result of being

made part of the public records of Broward County and its appearance on court documents

available for public scrutiny.

47. As a result of the aforementioned actions PLAINTIFF suffered embarrassment, anxiety,

discomfort, employment hardship, all of which continue to this day and is likely to continue
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in the future. PLAINTIFF also incurred incidental monetary costs, attorney's fees,

associated legal expenses for his criminal defense and present legal cause.

WHEREFORE PLAINTIFF demands judgment against Defendant, DE LA NUEZ, for

compensatory damages in excess of $15,000.00 and costs of this action and demands a jury trial

of all issues triable.

COUNT IV (FOUR) 
UNNECESSARY/EXCESSIVE USE OF FORCE CLAIM AGAINST

DEFENDANT DE LA NUEZ, INDIVIDUALLY, 
COGNIZABLE UNDER 42 U.S.C. § 1983 

For his cause of action against Defendant, DE LA NUEZ, individually in Count IV,

PLAINTIFF re-alleges and adopts, as if fully set forth, the allegations contained in

paragraphs 1- 23 and would further state as follows:

48. On or about March 7, 2012, DE LA NUEZ, under color of law, placed PLAINTIFF in

reasonable apprehension of immediately receiving injury, pain and physical discomfort

resulting from the defendant's actions which included, but were not limited to aiming,

pointing and threatening to discharge an electric weapon device. The defendant's actions

were likely to, and actually did result in such injury, pain and physical discomfort.

49. Defendant, DE LA NUEZ, under color of law, also did intentionally touch and strike

PLAINTIFF by deploying a taser or electric weapon device without the PLAINTIFF'S

consent and against his will. Defendant's actions intentionally caused physical harm to

PLAINTIFF.

50. Defendant DE LA NUEZ, acting wider color of law, also did intentionally touch and strike

PLAINTIFF by continued tasing causing repeated cycles of electrical voltage to be

discharged into Plaintiff's body. DE LA NUEZ, repeatedly punished and kicked PLAINTIFF

before and after he laid upon the ground.
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51. The conduct of Defendant, DE LA NUEZ, towards PLAINTIFF, as more fully set forth

above, was objectively unreasonable and constituted unnecessary and excessive use of force

in violation of PLAINTIFF'S clearly established constitutional rights under the 4th, 8th and

14th Amendments of the United States Constitution and 42 U.S.C. §1983.

52. As a direct and proximate result of the actions of Defendant, DE LA NUEZ, in violation of

42 U.S.C. §1983, PLAINTIFF suffered damages which include: physical suffering and

injury; physical inconvenience; physical discomfort; mental anguish and emotional suffering

and injury; embarrassment, legal costs and fees all in violation of PLAINTIFF'S civil rights.

WHEREFORE, PLAINTIFF demands judgment against the Defendant, DE LA NUEZ, for

any and all damages allowable by law, including but not limited to compensatory and exemplary

damages, award of payment of all costs related thereto, reasonable attorney's fees pursuant to 42

U.S.C. §1988, together with any post-judgment interest, any and all equitable relief allowed by

law, and further demands trial by jury.

Respectfully Submitted

(1;c77 „/C• . Al rson, Esq.
Florida Bar No.: 0044857
Juristfla@bellsouth.net
Anderson & Welch, LLC
500 S. Australian Ave., Sixth Floor
West Palm Beach, FL 33401-6237
Telephone: 561-832-3386
Facsimile: 561-651-4141

Attorney for the PLAINTIFF,
LAGOGE D. GRAHAM
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